1951

Rex Pace, Byron Pace, Keith Pace and Harvey Pace v. Joseph A. Parrish and Ida E. Parrish : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the month of October, 1947 Defendants, Joseph A. Parrish, and his wife, Ida E. Parrish, were the owners of a farm consisting of approximately 640 acres, situated at Mountain Green, Weber County, Utah. The Plaintiffs, consisting of the father, Harvey Pace, and his three sons, Rex Pace, Byron Pace, and Keith Pace, had contracted to sell their farm in Boeneta, Duchesne County, Utah, for the sum of \$50,000.00 (Tr. 28) and were looking for another farm large enough to supply the needs of the three boys. Sometime during the month of October, the exact date being in dispute, Rex Pace, one of the Plaintiffs, interviewed the Defendants at their home in Mountain Green. In this interview the parties discussed the acreage, water rights, and fences on the Parrish farm, and the parties tentatively agreed on the sale of the property by the Defendants to the Plaintiffs for the sum of \$50,000.00. This tentative agreement was subject to inspection of the premises by the Plaintiffs and it being approved by the father and the older two sons. (Tr. 28, 29).

Witness Rex Pace in reporting the interview testified that at the conclusion of the same, Defendant Joseph E. Parrish told Plaintiff Rex Pace, "I own the reservoir. The resevoir is on my place." (Tr. 29). Defendant Joseph E. Parrish admits that at a later time while he was showing them the property he told the Plaintiffs that the reservoir was "on his property." (Tr. 130).

On October 17, 1951, Rex Pace, his father, and one brother, Byron Pace, came to the Parrish home for the purpose of inspecting the property. Mr. Parrish and the three defendants got in the Pace's car and were shown over the property. When they came to a point some distance below the reservoir, Mr. Parrish told them that a certain hollow belonged to the place. (Tr. 129). They then proceeded to the reservoir located on the Parrish property, inspected some of the property lying beyond and returned, according to the testimony of Rex and Byron Pace, to a point, marked "A" which is west of the reservoir and about one-half mile above the Rollins land. At this point, where they could see the south field, the river bottom, a tract of $11\frac{1}{4}$ acres belonging to one Lee Rollins, and across the valley, (Tr. 32) Mr. Parrish is alleged to have said, "Brother all you see below us belongs to me." They then proceeded down the hill to within 200 feet of the Rollins property, traversing their route over the so-called "bottom land" in Sec. 19. The plaintiffs got out of the car and inspected the river bottom land (Tr. 60) and also inspected the south field. (Tr. 44). While here Mr. Parrish is alleged to have said, "The ground in Section 19 is of the same texture as that in the south field." (Tr. 45). The parties agreed on the sale, and planned to go to Logan,

Utah, to sign the legal papers consummating the transaction.

On December 4, 1947, on arrival of the Paces at Logan, Mr. and Mrs. Parrish, Harvey Pace, Byron Pace, and Keith Pace met Attorney L. Tom Perry in the First National Bank of Logan, and agreed that he should prepare the following: (Tr. 76 and 83).

1. A warranty deed conveying the property to the father and his three sons, Harvey Pace, Rex Pace, Byron Pace, and Keith Pace.

2. A purchase money mortgage from the four Paces and their wives to secure the balance due on the farm and notes for \$40,000.00.

3. A bill of sale to the personal property that went with the farm.

4. A chattel mortgage on the personal property sold as additional security for the balance due.

5. An agreement that the warranty deed and Bill of Sale was to be held by the attorney until the chattel mortgage, real estate mortgage and abstract were placed in his hands. The mortgages to be signed by all parties including Rex Pace and the wives of the parties, delivered to said attorney, who was then authorized to deliver the deed and bill of sale to the Plaintiffs.

They then left the attorney's office agreeing to return when the papers were prepared.

In the meantime Wallace Parrish, a son of the defendants, took the Paces for a ride over Cache County. They were gone about 6 hours. (Tr. 193). While on this trip Wallace told the Paces that others had an interest in

the reservoir. (Tr. 165, 168, and 170) and that the 11½ acres belonged to Mr. Rollins. (Tr. 166-167). However, Byron Pace testified that during this ride they made no inquiries concerning the land they were about to buy. (Tr. 193-194).

The parties met in the attorney's office at about 3:30 p. m. on the same day. The warranty deed, describing the land and containing this reference to the water rights:

“Together with the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in any wise appertaining, including all water and water rights used in connection with the land.” (Record page A32).

was read by the Paces and signed by the defendants and delivered to the attorney to be held by him until the real estate mortgage and chattel mortgage were returned. (Exhibit H.) (Tr. 84.) The real estate and chattel mortgage and the notes for the balance of the purchase price were signed by Harvey Pace, Byron Pace, and Keith Pace (Tr. 84-85) and taken out of the office by the Paces for further signatures. A check for \$10,000.00 was given to the defendants by the plaintiffs as a down payment. (Tr. 76). The plaintiffs paid another \$10,000.00 in May, 1948 and \$2,000.00 in May 1950. (Tr. 61).

On Dec. 4, 1947 an inquiry was made concerning the division of the water and Byron Pace asked, “How come that Lee Rollins divides the water. We thought we got all the water.” (Tr. 77).

Mr. Parrish then informed Harvey Pace, Byron Pace and Keith Pace that others besides himself had an interest in the reservoir.

The mortgage notes, and escrow agreement were then taken to Rex Pace. He signed these instruments on December 15, 1947, after he had learned that others besides the defendants had an interest in the water in the reservoir. (Tr. 63, 68, 85). Later the mortgages were signed by the wives of the parties, and the mortgages and agreements were returned to Logan. As soon as the abstract was secured the Federal Land Bank and brought up to date. It and the warranty deed and bill of sale to the personal property was mailed to them and the notes and mortgages were delivered to the defendants.

In January, 1950, the plaintiffs brought an action against the defendants for fraud and deceit in connection with the transaction praying for damages against the defendants in the sum of \$25,000.00. Alleging that he defendants had made the following misrepresentations:

A. That they misrepresented the amount and character of the water rights that went with the property.

B. That they had misrepresented the quantity of the land being sold.

C. That they had misrepresented the right, title and ownership of certain personal property.

D. The quality and condition of land in a portion of the property known as the "south field."

E. That they had misrepresented the quality of the "river bottom land."

F. That they had misrepresented the condition of the fences on the property.

The action was tried before a jury. The jury denied any relief on the alleged misrepresentation concerning the

right, title and ownership of certain personal property and any damages for the alleged misrepresentation of the quality of the land in the "south field." The court approving the answers of the jury to interrogatories submitted to them entered judgment against the defendants in the sum of \$8,650.00 and ordered that the "amount of said damages and costs shall be deducted from the unpaid part of the purchase price indebtedness now owed the defendants by the plaintiffs by reason of the defendants sale to the plaintiffs of that certain farm which was part of the subject matter of this action." Judgment entered December 12, 1950.

From this judgment the defendants appeal.

In the trial, the court, at the request of plaintiffs, called in the jury. At the conclusion of the testimony the court under Rule 49 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in response to a request of the parties submitted to the jury certain interrogatories. These interrogatories did not cover every issue of fact. Under said Rule 49 where "the court omits any issue of fact raised by the pleadings or by the evidence, each party waives his right to a trial by jury of the issue so omitted unless before the jury retires he demands its submission to the jury. As to an issue omitted without such demand the court may make a finding; or, if it fails to do so, it shall be deemed to have made a finding in accord with the judgment on the special verdict."

STATEMENT OF POINTS UPON WHICH APPELLANT INTENDS TO RELY FOR REVERSAL OF JUDGMENT AND DECREE.

POINT III. THE COURT ERRED IN RENDERING A JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANTS FOR THE ALLEGED FALSE REPRESENTATIONS CONCERNING THE QUALITY OF THE RIVER BOTTOM LAND IN SECTION 19.

In this connection the court erred in adopting and approving its own findings of fact the following answer of the jury:

1. That the defendant Joseph A. Parrish represented to the plaintiffs that the land in the river bottom is of the same quality as the land in the south field.
2. That such representation was false.
3. That the plaintiffs relied on the alleged statement of defendant as to the quality of the river bottom land and not upon their own inspection.

That the court likewise erred in making the following implied findings of fact.

1. That defendant intended to deceive the plaintiffs as to the quality of land in the river bottom.
2. That plaintiffs had the right to rely on any alleged false statements of defendant with reference to the quality of the land in the river bottom.

POINT IV: THAT THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANTS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

POINT V: THAT THE COURT ERRED IN APPROVING SPECIAL FINDINGS OF THE JURY, TO-WIT: VII A, VIIA(1), VII A(3), VII A(4), VII A(5), and VII B. (Record on appeal page A56-7).

ARGUMENT

This is an action in equity.

“It is frequently said in a general way that grounds for equitable relief exist in, or that chancery courts have jurisdiction over cases arising out of fraud. Indeed the statement is recurrent that there is no other ground on which equity jurisdiction is so readily and frequently entertained.” 19 Am. Jr. page 63.

“But equity jurisdiction is not conferred by a mere charge of fraud.” 19 Am. Jr. page 64.

“Equity jurisdiction is to be sustained unless the remedy at law is complete and will secure to the litigant the whole right involved in a manner as just and perfect as that attainable in a suit in equity.” 19 Am. Jr. page 65.

In the instant case it may be contended that if the plaintiffs had asked only for damages for the fraud and if that were all the relief asked equity would not entertain jurisdiction. But the plaintiff goes further. He fears that mere damages would not be adequate as the notes signed by the plaintiffs to secure the balance due on the contract may reach the hands of an innocent party so he prays that “the Court shall order the (damages) same to be deducted from the unpaid part of the purchase price yet to be paid by the defendants.” (Record on appeal page 5).

In so doing he seeks relief that can not be secured by a court of law and in seeking an equitable remedy he invokes the jurisdiction of equity and must be bound by the rules of equity.

The relief he seeks may be likened to the party who seeks an equitable set-off. In order to avoid a separate

action he seeks to have the rights of the parties consolidated in one action.

“Set-off by a bill in equity was recognized at an early date, the purpose of a court in chancery being to adjust in one suit conflicting demands, if, from the relations between the parties and the nature of their claims, equity and justice are shown to require complete settlement.” 19 Am. Jur. page 124.

Forrester vs. Jastad 167 P 55, was an action for damages for false representation in the sale of land. In response to the prayer of this complaint “the court assessed the damages of plaintiffs in the sum of \$500, and directed the cancellation of the note for that sum, which was past due, and further made its restraining order against the transfer of that note permanent.”

In rendering the opinion the court said:

“The essence of the action is to relieve respondents from liability on notes procured from them by fraud, and to restrain the negotiation of such notes to an innocent holder, whereby the liability of respondents would be confirmed, and the appellants enabled to place themselves in a position to defeat the enforcement of any judgment against them for damages. *The action is cognizable in equity.*”

One of the rules of equity by which plaintiffs are bound is that of the attitude of this court on appeal. It was said in the case of Jensen vs. Howell 75 (Ut.) 64 282 Pac. 1034:

“This case is one in equity. In this jurisdiction the binding effect of findings on the trial court in law cases is different from that in equity cases. In the

former, the findings as a general rule, are approved if there is sufficient competent evidence to support them, and ordinarily are not disturbed, unless it is manifest, that they are so clearly against the weight of the evidence as to indicate a misconception, or not due consideration of it. In the latter, our duty and responsibility in approving or disapproving findings when challenged are more comprehensive. In such cases, on an appeal and a review of questions of law and fact, and on a challenge of the findings, the review in effect is trial da nova on the record. On such a review, if after making due allowance as the better opportunity of the trial court to observe the demeanor of the witnesses, of determining their credibility and the weight of their testimony, we on the record nevertheless are persuaded that a challenged finding is against the fair preponderance or greater weight of the evidenc, or not supported by it, we disapprove it, and make or direct a finding or remand the cause for further proceeding; otherwise to affirm it.”

“In reaching the conclusion as we do that plaintiff has failed to establish his right to have the deed in question set aside we are not unmindful of the rule frequently announced by this court to the effect that it will not disturb the trial court’s findings unless it is reasonably clear that such findings are against the evidence. Such rule is in part founded on the fact that the trial court has the opportunity to see the witnesss and to observe their demeanor while testifying and is therefore in a better position to determine the weight which should be to the evidence than the members of this court who do not have that opportunity. The rule however does not relieve this court from the responsibility placed upon it by the Constitution and laws of this state of weighing the evidence

and determining the facts. In equity cases the parties are entitled to a judgment of this court as to facts." Greco v. Graco, 39 P 2nd 318, 85 Utah 241.

The above case was one of alleged fraud where the court reversed the judgment of the trial court.

The only essential facts in dispute in the instant case is where and what was said by defendant with respect to the ownership of the reservoir and whether plaintiffs were informed by Wallace Parrish that others had an interest in the reservoir before three of them signed the note and mortgage.

Also where the parties were when Parrish told plaintiffs that certain land belonged to him and whether Wallace Parrish on December 4, 1947 told plaintiffs that he 11½ acres belonged to Rollins.

Even though all of these facts are resolved in favor of plaintiffs yet on the undisputed evidence, they should not prevail.

Few primary facts are in dispute. It is the court and jury's deduction from these facts that we take issue. The intent of the defendant to influence plaintiffs when he made certain statements; the right of plaintiffs to rely on such statements; as to what tract of land defendants, had in mind when he is alleged to have said "all the land you see below us belong to me," the amount of damage are the important questions to be decided in this case. Such questions being but deductions from primary facts we submit that this court has equal rights with the trial court and jury to make such deductions.

ARGUMENT — POINT I

1. The elements of fraud are:

- (1) a representation
- (2) its falsity
- (3) its materiality
- (4) The speakers knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth
- (5) his intent that it should be acted upon by the person in a manner reasonably contemplated
- (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity
- (7) his reliance upon its truth
- (8) his right to rely thereon
- (9) his consequent and possible injury.

Stuck vs. Delta Land and Water Co. 227 P. 791, 63 U 495; Campbell vs. Zions Co-op 148 P. 406, 46 Utah 1; Jones vs. Pingree 73 Utah 190, 273 P. 303; Kinnear vs. Prows 16 P2d 1094, 81 Ut. 135.

2. Each of the elements of fraud must be proved with reasonable certainty, and all of them must be found from the evidence to exist. The absence of any of these elements is fatal to the plaintiff. Jones vs. Pingree 273 P. 303, 73 U. 190.

3. The burden of proof is on he who asserts fraud and it must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. Campbell vs. Zions Co-op (Ante.); Farrell vs. Wishwell 143 P. 582 45 Utah 252; Taylor vs. Moore 51 P. 2nd 222, 87 Ut. 202; 55 Am. Jur. page 540.

The first allegation of fraud is that the defendants made certain false representations concerning the ownership of the reservoir.

Quoting from their complaint:

“4 (a) The defendant Joseph A. Parrish, showed plaintiff a large made reservoir, located entirely on the aforesaid premises and said, ‘The reservoir belongs to me.’

“That in truth and in fact the reservoir was owned jointly with three other persons.” (R. A2).*

The testimony of the plaintiffs supporting this allegation is very brief. I quote all.

Rex Parrish on his first visit to the farm in October, 1947, says that he and Mr. Parrish at that first visit “went over the deal, acreage, water rights, fences, and several other things.” (Tr. 27). Then this question was asked, “Was there any discussion relative to how much water was on the place while you were there?” And this was his answer, “He (Mr. Parrish) said, ‘I own the reservoir. The reservoir is on my place.’ ” (Tr. 29).

That is the sum total of plaintiff’s direct evidence to sustain this element of fraud.

Later, on a visit to the farm by three defendants, Harvey Pace, Rex Pace and Byron Pace, water rights were discussed. According to the plaintiffs, on this visit when they came to the reservoir, only this much is said:

Q. “What was the first thing you observed when you got up the dugway?”

A. The reservoir.

Q. While at the reservoir, did Mr. Parrish make any statements to you relative to the reservoir?

R. indicates Record on appeal.

A. None at all, no statements at that time, as I recall, other than he says, 'This is the reservoir.'

Q. Did you ask Mr. Parrish if any other parties owned any interest in the reservoir?

A. "No." (Tr. 30).

If a case of fraud is made, it must be made on that testimony.

Defendant admits that he told the plaintiffs that the reservoir was "on his property." (Tr. 130). And the jury found that such a statement was made. (Tr. 212 R. A53). The Court wisely did not submit to the jury the question of the truth or falsity of this statement for the determination of that question was not in issue, plaintiffs having admitted in their complaint that the reservoir was on the property of the defendant. (Record on appeal p. 2).

Admitting for the purpose of argument that defendant told plaintiff that "the reservoir was on his place," we must test that statement to determine whether it constitutes such fraud or deceit as will enable plaintiff to recover.

One element of fraud that is not sustained by either the preponderance of the evidence or by clear and convincing evidence is the fraudulent intent of the defendant in making the statement. It must ever be kept in mind that it is what the defendant actually said and not what the plaintiffs thought he meant that determines the question of fraud.

“Fraud is never presumed . *When a statement is explainable upon a theory of fair dealing, that theory should be adopted.*” Southern Development Co. of Nevada vs. Silva 125 U.S. 247, 31 L.Ed. 678, 55 Am. Jr. page 540.

“Futhermore, an alleged representation must be considered in the light of the conversation under which it is made, and may not be lifted out of its context nor considered apart from the circumstances or situation where it was made. Nor can an alleged misrepresentation be given a meaning which cannot be reasonably attached to it.” Oberg vs. Sanders 184 P2d 229, 111 Ut. 507.

The evidence is none too clear as to the circumstances under which plaintiff made the alleged statement, “I own the reservoir. The reservoir is on my place.” Mr. Parrish testifies that he told the plaintiffs the reservoir was on his place the day they made the inspection of the farm and viewed the reservoir:

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