1951

Rex Pace, Byron Pace, Keith Pace and Harvey Pace v. Joseph A. Parrish and Ida E. Parrish : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

This is an action at law.

"The action of deceit is of very ancient origin. There was an old writ of deceit known as early as 1201, which lay only against a person who had misused legal procedure for the purpose of swindling someone. At a later period, this writ was superseded by an action on the case in the nature of deceit, which became the general common law remedy for fraudulent or even non-fraudulent misrepresentation which resulted in actual damage . . . "

Prosser on Torts (Misrepresentation), p. 704.

In the case of Taylor vs. Moore, 87 Utah 493, 51 Pac. 2d 222, plaintiffs brought an action for rescission of a real estate contract on the ground of fraud. The court pointed out that " . . . *this being an equity case*" equitable relief could not be granted since plaintiff was not promptly before the court (laches), therefore " . . . the respondents by delay waived the right to rescind, and they must be left to their remedy *at law for damages.*" In that case they quoted from Shappirio v. Goldberg, 192 U. S. 232 at p. 504:

"In other words, when a party discovers that he has been deceived in a transaction of this character, he may resort to an *action at law* to recover damages, or

he may have the transaction set aside in which he has been wronged by rescission of the contract . . ." (*Italics added.*)

Williston on Contracts, Vol. 5, Sec. 1526, states:

"Setting a fraudulent bargain aside, however, is an alternative right given on equitable principles to the injured party, and, therefore, if this remedy is desired, it must be sought with reasonable promptness after the fraud has been discovered."

Inasmuch as respondents asked for incidental relief in having the amount of the judgment deducted from the unpaid portion of the purchase price appellants have sought to convince this court that the case is one in equity. Throughout their brief they have indicated that the jury made a new contract for the parties and that the relief sought was the cancellation of notes. But this is not so. Respondents are standing by their agreement to purchase the ranch. And in view of the case of *Taylor v. Moore* (*supra*) it would appear that they had no other choice. The sole remedy they seek is an award of damages due to misrepresentation.

Appellants seek to have this court review the matter as a trial *da nova* on the record on the grounds that the case is entirely in equity. Respondents maintain that the action and the relief sought make it strictly a law action; that insofar as they ask the court to decree that the damages be deducted from the unpaid purchase price that portion of the action—and that only—moves into the realm of equity and is "cognizable in equity" as pointed out in appellants' cited case of *Forrester v. Jastad*, to which we shall return promptly. Thus,

since the action is one at law, this court should not disturb the findings unless there is insufficient evidence to support them under the well-recognized rule of this court.

Appellants cite the Utah cases of Jensen vs. Howell, 75 Utah 64; 282 Pac. 1034 and Greco vs. Graco, 85 Utah 241; 39 Pac. 2d 318, to support their contentions. However, those cases involved attempts to secure relief other than damages. In the former case fraud was alleged but the relief sought was to have an express trust impressed upon an absolute conveyance of real estate and transfer of personal property; the latter case was an attempt to cancel and set aside a deed. Admittedly such actions exist in equity, but they do not support appellants' contentions.

Appellants rely on the case of Forrester vs. Jastad, 167 Pac. 55 (Washington) throughout their brief in support of their claim that this is an equity case and for other purposes. Although somewhat identical insofar as involving similar subject matter that case actually is better authority for respondents since it is not in point on appellants' contentions but is in point for respondents.

Quoting the very sentence preceding that found on page 15 of appellants' brief the Washington court said:

"The appellants first contend that the action was one for damages for the breach of a contract, and therefore the allowance of equitable relief by the court was erroneous. The complaint was based upon the fraud of appellants; but, instead of seeking rescission on that ground, they sought to recover damages . . . Under Rem Code No. 153 (*one form of action under Code*) an

action may be maintained for both legal and equitable relief.” (Italics added.)

Quoting Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 2:

“There shall be one form of action to be known as ‘civil action.’ ”

And from Rule 8:

“ . . . Relief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded.”

Thus, we have the situation of a legal action for fraud wherein respondents sought and secured damages, the matter being “cognizable in equity” for the purpose of specifying how damages should be paid by deducting the amount from the unpaid portion of the purchase price. This element of equity cannot be said to so reach back to the lawsuit itself so as to open all of the evidence to a trial da nova on the record. Had we sought to set aside the contract the result might be otherwise. In a non-code state respondents would satisfy the judgment by execution. Because the code permits equitable relief in a law action in the incidental manner sought in this case, to hold that appellate review extend to the limits proposed by appellants would defeat much of the purpose of the codes.

In fact the procedure sought by respondents in their complaint seems to be distinctly in line with proper procedure under the codes of code states. In preparing the prayer for relief in the complaint plaintiffs relied on the case of *Paolini v. Sulprizio*, 201 Cal. 683; 258 Pac. 380:

“If the contract remains executory, the damages which he is entitled to recover are no other and no

greater than those which would be awarded to a party who has fully executed his contract. From any award which may be made because of the fraud must be deducted any part of the purchase price.”

The foregoing rule applies to the case at hand quite clearly. While in the cited case the unpaid balance of the purchase price was reduced below the award for damages the rule should be the same in the case at bar where the damages do not measure up to the unpaid balance of the purchase price by any means.

The proposition advanced by appellants appears too elementary for further argument.

PLAINTIFFS SUBMITTED EVIDENCE PROVING ALL OF THE ELEMENTS OF FRAUD.

(a) *In General*

“Fraud may be found from a variety of circumstances. There is no general rule for determining what facts will constitute it, but it is to be found or not according to the special circumstances of each particular case.

With regard to modes of perpetration, methods of defrauding may be broadly classified as being misrepresentation, concealment, or false pretenses.”

23 Am. Jur. 762.

The Utah case of *Stuck v. Delta Land and Water Co.*, 63 Utah 495; 227 Pac. 791 clearly sets forth all of the essential elements of fraud to be proved in establishing a cause of action. In preparing their complaint and in conducting the trial plaintiffs were careful to cover each essential element, and the jury was so instructed (Instruction No. 2):

"Fraud consists of a misrepresentation of an existing fact or facts, which were material in inducing the plaintiffs to purchase the defendants' farm for the price agreed upon. The misrepresentations must have been made by the defendants, either knowing them to be false or being in ignorance of whether they were true or false, with the intention that they influence plaintiffs to so purchase the farm; and the plaintiffs must have relied on the misrepresentations to their injury in so purchasing the farm, and must have been entitled to rely on the misrepresentations under the circumstances."

(R. A-18)

This lawsuit involves the sale of a 640-acre ranch located at Mountain Green, Morgan County, Utah. At the time of sale the ranch consisted of a house, out-buildings, certain items of livestock and equipment, 63 acres of irrigated land, 30 or 40 acres of dry land and some 540 acres, more or less, of grazing land, covered with sage brush and grass. The area is set out on Exhibit A—to which plaintiffs will frequently refer.

Dissecting the ranch from northeast to southwest runs Cottonwood Creek. To the east of Cottonwood Creek the land slopes gradually to the south. On the west of the creek in the upper two-thirds of the farm the land rises rather sharply and is on a considerably higher elevation.

In this latter area, high above most of the farm, exists an imposing man-made reservoir of an area of approximately 20 acres which stores early spring water from a ditch leading into it for use during the summer months (Ex. D, F and 30). As the undisputed evidence shows the reservoir was used by

some four or more farmers in that area to water their lands and, in this connection, they had formed the Northwest Irrigation Ditch Company, a non-profit incorporated water association.

It is around the peculiar and novel facts surrounding this reservoir, and the representations (and concealment) connected therewith that the nub of this lawsuit is found. Although other representations were made to the plaintiffs concerning the farm the basis for their belief in such representations related directly to their belief that they were receiving the entire reservoir in the purchase of the farm. This fact of the inseparability of the misrepresentations complained of must be kept in mind at all times throughout this brief.

(b) *Defendant made actionable false representations material to plaintiffs' purchase of the farm.* Since the damages awarded plaintiffs in this case, with the exception of \$180.00, arose out of three items of misrepresentation, and inasmuch as defendants have centered their attack primarily on these three items, plaintiffs will not attempt to cover the smaller issues of fences (\$100.00 damage award) or hay removed from the farm (\$80.00 damage award). The evidence on those items is too clear to create controversy.

The representations made by defendant, all of which the jury found to have been made and to be untrue, while dealing with plaintiffs prior to their purchase of the farm in question, were as follows:

(1) AS TO THE RESERVOIR:

1. "I own the reservoir." (T. 29)

2. "The reservoir is on my property." (T. 29, 130)
3. "If the deal went (goes) through the reservoir went (goes) with the place." (T. 116)

That the reservoir was not owned by the defendant and that it did not go with the place were never denied. Defendant admits that he never told the plaintiffs that others had interests in the reservoir (T. 25, and Brief 21, 22 and 23):

- Q. (By Mr. Fuller) Did they know at the time of the transaction there was water stock or merely one-fourth of the reservoir or one-fourth of the water?
- A. (By Mr. Parrish) I suppose they knew that stock belonged to the northwest irrigation ditch company. *If they had asked me I would have told them.* (Italics added).

From 23 Am. Jur. 854, I quote:

" . . . Generally speaking, however, in the conduct of various transactions between persons involving business dealings, commercial negotiations, or other relationships relating to property, contracts, and miscellaneous rights, there are times and occasions when the law imposes upon a party a duty to speak rather than to remain silent in respect of certain facts within his knowledge and thus to disclose information, in order that the party with whom he is dealing may be placed on an equal footing with him. In such a case a failure to speak amounts to a suppression of a fact which should have been disclosed and is a fraud. As a matter of fact, in such circumstances a failure to state a fact is actually equivalent to a fraudulent concealment and amounts to fraud just as much as an affirmative falsehood."

Defendant further admits in his complaint making the statement, "The reservoir is on my property." This latter

remark standing alone, in the absence of suspicious circumstances or other explanatory statements, carries the innuendo of complete ownership. But let us examine further.

Although stipulated that the abstract was silent thereto plaintiffs introduced concrete evidence showing that the reservoir was not even on defendants' property although defendant testified (T. 8) that it was *entirely* so located. This evidence consisted of a Warranty Deed, signed by each of the two defendants (Ida E. Parrish and Joseph A. Parrish) on November 21, 1932 and recorded on March 16, 1934. It is found in Book M, page 373 of the Morgan County records and is completely set out on page 119-A of the transcript. In this deed the defendants conveyed to the Northwest Irrigation Ditch Company, grantee:

"All right, title and interest, amounting to nine-tenths (9/10) in that certain Reservoir and Reservoir Site known as the old "Pond Hole" situated in the Northwest quarter of Section 19, Township 5 North, Range 2 East of the Salt Lake Meridian."

In their brief defendants contend that plaintiffs must make out their case, if at all, on the two statements, "I own the reservoir. The reservoir is on my place." While claiming that they are quoting "all" of the evidence relating directly to the reservoir (Brief p. 19) they are carefully and deliberately avoiding what would normally be considered the most believable type of testimony—that overheard by a totally disinterested third person.

As shown by the evidence Rex Pace, at the time he first contacted the defendants, was with Mr. Reynold Blackington,

a former well-known resident of Morgan County. The latter introduced Rex Pace to the defendants and returned to the car while Rex Pace talked with the defendants as to whether they would sell their farm. When Rex Pace returned to the car Mr. Blackington overheard the third reference to the reservoir, which defendants avoid discussing (T. 116):

BY MR. FULLER:

Q. Did both of them walk out to the car?

A. They both came out together.

Q. Did you ever hear any of the discussion at that time?

A. Only part of it.

Q. Was any discussion made relative to the reservoir on the farm?

A. As we were getting ready to go Mr. Parrish said, "If the deal went (goes) through the reservoir went (goes) with the place." (Verb tense added).

The jury had good opportunity to observe Mr. Blackington's demeanor and the defendants had ample opportunity to cross-examine him fully. In such a sparsely populated county the jurists were also undoubtedly aware of Mr. Blackington's reputation for truth and honesty.

Although defendants contend in their brief that the statements made merely identify the extent of defendants' property we feel that more positive representations could hardly be made. The jury, too, felt so inclined.

Defendants in their brief refer to the statement incorpor-

ated in the Warranty Deed given plaintiffs by defendants wherein the water rights were conveyed as follows:

“Together with the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances thereunto belonging or in any wise appertaining, including all water and water rights used in connection with the land.” (See R. A-32).

Since the water was represented by stock certificates in an incorporated water association, it is contended that had Mr. Perry, defendants’ attorney, known of this fact he would have used a different method of transferring the water rights. Since the water was not appurtenant to the farm the purported method of conveyance passed nothing to the plaintiffs. And this situation exists to this very day. Water rights in the State of Utah are transferred as follows (Utah Code Annotated, 1943, as Amended by Laws of 1945):

Section 100-1-10:

“Water rights shall be transferred by deed in substantially the same manner as real estate, *except when they are represented by shares of stock in a corporation, in which case water shall not be deemed to be appurtenant to the land; . . .*” (Italics added.)

The water certificates, properly endorsed and re-issued, was the proper medium for transferring defendants’ share of the water to the plaintiffs. The method used merely put the plaintiffs off-guard and confirmed their beliefs; the proper method would have quickly clarified the type and amount of water right being received.

Defendants contend that plaintiffs should be barred from

recovering for the reason that Rex Pace signed the papers after his two brothers and his father were informed that the water rights were not as represented. But the evidence shows that plaintiffs believed themselves unable to extricate themselves from the situation upon the advice of legal counsel, which they immediately sought. Furthermore, defendants forget that the damage was done on and prior to October 17th, 1947—some 48 days before the papers were signed. In the meantime the plaintiffs sold their farm (belonging to plaintiff Harvey Pace) in the Uintah Basin for \$25,000.00 (T. 56)—obviously receiving less than would have been received had they had sufficient time to find a ready and willing purchaser under normal circumstances (T. 28). In this connection plaintiffs had uprooted and dispossessed themselves of all of their former associations and property in contemplation of purchasing defendants' farm.

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